The Benedictine Revival in the

Nineteenth Century

The curtain goes up on the nineteenth century with ?'a opening act which, so far as the history of Benedictinism is conferned, seemed to betoken a wholesale clearance of the past. The French armies which were over-running Europe regarded monasteries not just as part of the medieval clutter which must be swept away if the new social order was going to take root, but as organisms whose continu​ance could be positively injurious to the new outlook on life which the Revolutionaries wanted to spread. And this radical hostility to religious life would spontaneously recur throughout the century whenever those who subscribed to the revolutionary tradition swept to power in France, Italy and Spain. For them a life under vows seemed a renunciation of the sacred principle of Liberty. The monasteries also were so enmeshed with the ancien regime, its feudal and hierarchical structure, that their extirpation was imperative for the sake of Equality, and they could not be envisaged as taking on any other form than that of great landlords. And even the most spiritual of monks, or especially when they were so, witnessed all too effectively to a mental framework where the concept of man, his sinfulness and need of a Redeemer, his destiny beyond the horizons of this world, challenged the notions of human perfectibility and indefinite progress, the assumptions of the new society, which coloured the revolutionary conception of Fraternity.

As each country succumbed to the French invaders, no time was lost before its monasteries were suppressed—Belgium in 1796, Switzerland in 1798, the different states of Germany between 1803 and i8o6 (all monasteries except the Scottish house of St James, Ratisbon, spared because the community consisted of foreigners), Tuscany in 1807, Naples in 1807, Spain in 18o8, the Papal states in 'flog. Some monks were allowed to remain as caretakers of Monte Cassino, Monte Vergine and Cava where the abbeys were recon​stituted as State Archives. Throughout Europe less than two per cent survived of the fifteen hundred or more Benedictine houses that in 1790 had spangled the landscape. The ease and rapidity of this total clearance is not surprising since the Revolution, so far from doing something new in proscribing the religious life, was in many cases only carrying to completion the work of its predecessors, the Bourbon and Habsburg governments of the late eighteenth century,
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who had already been thinning out the monasteries of their countries in the name of the Enlightenment and forcing them to undertake parishes, schools and other works of immediate and obvious social utility. Under attack the monks too were rarely heroic, but accepted their pensions and merged with the diocesan clergy; few of them sought to continue their monastic way of life elsewhere, although for Benedictines, whose vows and formation have in view a single local monastic family, this question raises difficulties that other religious orders do not have. Nevertheless it does seem that for some decades the fervour of monastic life had wilted in the atmosphere of the Enlightenment. In the later years of the old regime building projects had escalated but the number of vocations plummetted (the monas​tery of St Vaast in Arras and a few other large houses in its neigh​bourhood were outstanding exceptions to this rule). Increasing governmental regulations in France and in Austria had stifled that local initiative which is the very breath of life for Benedictinism. But in its hour of trial and humiliation a few martyrs redeemed the monastic race, notably the Superiors General of the Maurists, the Vannists and the Cluniacs. Heroic too was the prolonged exodus of the community of La Trappe under its novice-master, Dom Augustin de Lestrange which, after fleeing to Switzerland to resume their common life at Valsainte in 1798, was driven by the advancing French armies to Austria, Poland and Russia, thence back to America, with an offshoot settling at Lulworth, Dorset, the awkward guests of Mr Weld.

The abbot was a belligerent and ungrateful character who made exorbitant demands on the charity of his benefactor. In 1817 the community was forced out of England for a variety of reasons, one of them being its refusal to pray for the `heretical' king, George III. It settled at Melleray in Ireland, from which Mount St Bernard was founded in 1835. Unlike the other English monastic houses of this century, Mount St Bernard became part of the converts' dream-world of re-Catholicizing England and sacralizing its landscape. Ambrose de Lisle Phillips and Augustus Welby Pugin were the chief benefactors of this English foundation. For a few decades this Cistercian house maintained the custom of Mount Melleray in attaching an educational establishment, this time an approved school, to the monastery, though the difficulties of this arrangement soon became apparent. Afterwards and to this day, they followed the more normal observance of the traditional Cistercian contem​plative community.

In America Lestrange purchased for a projected monastery what was to be the site of St Patrick's Cathedral, New York. All the time this monastery on wheels, comprising sometimes as many as 254
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persons, under the iron rule of Lestrange, aspired to an observance far stricter even than that of La Trappe. This resolute stand was responsible for the early and rapid proliferation of Trappist houses in France and America after the war long before the Benedictine revival had gathered momentum. The success of this rapid increase was tempered by the divisions Lestrange's new severe standards gave rise to, between those houses which followed his regime and those, led by Sept Fons, who did not wish to exceed the customs of La Trappe. This rift was only to be healed in 1893 at the prompting of Leo XIII who was simultaneously confederating the Benedictines.

Less dramatic were the other monastic survivals that managed to weather the storm. Austria, though defeated by Napoleon, was never taken over by him so that its palatial monasteries can still vaunt an unbroken continuity of monastic life spanning the centuries, in many cases reaching right back to their foundation by Tassilo, the Bavarian king who rebelled against Charlemagne. Less impres​sive than their architecture and pedigree were the realities of their monastic observance at this time, overladen as it was with heavy parochial and educational responsibilities which had been the price that Joseph II's rationalist government had exacted for permitting their survival. The equally venerable and monumental monasteries of Switzerland were allowed to reopen in 1803. But although the five years of their suppression were not long enough to seriously dislocate their history, a number of the smaller houses as well as St Gall never re-emerged, while the survivors would have to live through several decades of harrowing uncertainty and occasional suppressions, dependent as they were on the goodwill of the cantonal governments. So in its great Baroque heartland of Central Europe, Benedictinism was nothing like so assured and fecund as its court-like establishments might suggest.

Very similar was the case of the numerous and grand monasteries belonging to the Cassinese Congregation in Sicily which had been protected from Napoleon by the English fleet. Housed in Spanish magnificence, proud of the noble families who provided their recruits, the Sicilian monks were nevertheless addicted to factious​ness perhaps because of their family connexions, and this was compounded by the political divisions over the movement for the unification of Italy. The lives of both Cardinal Dusmet and of Abbot Casaretto let fall many hints, and often plain remarks, that all was far from happy in the Sicilian province of the Cassinese; it could hardly be the well-spring of new life for the Order.

Humbler altogether in its outer circumstances was the life of the English Benedictine monks, now repatriated to a warm welcome from their Protestant fellow-countrymen after two centuries of


BENEDICTINE REVIVAL IN THE NINETEENTH CENTURY 285

exile on the Continent. Of their four pre-Revolutionary houses one had capsized never to re-emerge save for an experimental few years at Broadway; that was the house which had been most numerous, wealthy and prestigious, the abbey of Lamspringe near Hildesheim in Germany which had hitherto seemed the most secure of all the English Continental establishments, with its abbot a Prince of the Holy Roman Empire. It had been dissolved not by French, but by Prussian invaders in 1802, and most of its resident community lingered on as individuals living in the village, drawing their pensions or hoping for the abbey's resuscitation. St Edmund's Priory in Paris, beloved of the Stuarts in exile, would have petered out too if the energetic President Brewer had not scratched together a small band of volunteers to re-constitute that community in a new locale, when in 182o it occupied the buildings in Douai, vacated by the St Gregory's conventus. The latter, successfully transplanted to England, first to Acton Burnell in Shropshire, then to Downside near Bath, had finally decided after much debate not to return to France in the time of peace. The community formerly at St Law​rence's, Dieulouard in Lorraine, had likewise settled down at Ampleforth near York after a long series of temporary resting-places. These experiences could be paralleled in the histories of many communities of Benedictine nuns, formerly at Brussels, Ghent, Paris, Cambrai and Montargis (although this latter, now at Fernham near Swindon, started off as a refugee French community rather than one of the historic English houses in exile). Each resumed the quiet and genteel tenor of its life in new houses deep in the English countryside after the nightmare of the Terror. Numerically the English Benedic​tine Congregation at this time, in common with the Dominicans, Franciscans and most religious orders, reached its lowest ebb. Its members too had few social or intellectual pretensions, but great tenacity and strength of character which went into the moulding of the next generation to produce a galaxy of sturdy and self-taught individuals, admirably suited for the role of pioneer bishops and missionaries. For the moment, however, the communities of Downside and Ampleforth lived in discreet obscurity, running their modest schools and serving remote mission chapels.

These were the shreds which remained of the former vast and intricate fabric. When the Waterloo dust had settled, there seemed little promise that Benedictine life would share in the general restoration of the status quo. Even the victors were unconvinced that that would be a good thing, especially since many of their subjects had enriched themselves on confiscated monastic property. The Catholic Church of Restoration France was firmly Gallican in temper, attached to the alliance of throne and altar, anxious to keep
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the Pope at bay and to allow the Government a stranglehold on Church affairs, believing in the close regulation of all religious orders
the Revolutionary laws against the taking of religious vows were never revoked—and feeling that Christianity should be re-introduced into France by degrees, with the religious life coming last. In this climate it is not surprising that a valiant attempt by some aged survivors, including one who had been Novice-Master to St Gregory's at Downside, Dom Leveaux, to revive the Maurist Congregation at Senlis in 1816 came to grief. Dom Gueranger too, twenty years later, would have to disarm suspicions that his projected monastic foundation would be infected with the doctrines of Lammenais, with whom Gueranger had been closely associated and who advocated that phobia of all good Gallicans, a free Church in a free State.

So, whether the Governments were of the Left or of the Right, Benedictines could not look for sympathetic consideration in those quarters. One factor, however, would tell in favour of a Benedictine revival, and that would be the unwavering and discreet support of the Papacy. Pope Pius VII (1800–1823) had been a Benedictine monk of Cesena, and his patience, courage and dignity during his imprisonments at Savona and Fontainebleau had rehabilitated the Papacy in the esteem of all opposed to Napoleon's tyranny, whether Catholic or not. This upsurge of sympathy for the tragic Pope was probably the first wave of the Ultramontane tide, a movement that would gather force when he ended the suppression of the Jesuits on returning to Rome at the end of the war. He also restored the Benedictine abbeys in the Papal States, two of which—S. Paolo in Rome and Subiaco—were to become the cradles of the Benedictine revival throughout Europe. In his Concordats with the newly estab​lished Catholic powers Pope Pius required that the former monas​teries be reconstituted, which would belatedly have its effect in Bavaria. Gregory XVI (1831–1846) had been a Camaldolese monk, following the Benedictine Rule, from which possibly he derived that distaste for slavery which led him to support the Emancipation movement, perhaps his solitary `progressive' manifestation. Having lived for fifty years in a monastery, he gave his shrewd support to both Casaretto and Gueranger. Pius IX (1846–78), discovering that the newly founded Benedictines had a strong attachment to all things Roman and would fight his battles in France and Germany, reciprocated with inexhaustible benevolence, while Leo XIII (1879–1903) sought to invigorate the Order by providing it with stronger central organs. Assured of Papal sympathy, the Benedictines responded by making constant and immediate recourse to Rome their normal method of procedure in all their constitutional develop‑
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ments, long before the Definition of Papal Infallibility in 187o had inaugurated an era where this practice would be universal. In the Album Benedictinum the Pope was always introduced under the title 'Abbot of abbots'.

The first large-scale resuscitation of Benedictines outside Rome took place in Bavaria under the patronage of King Ludwig I (1825-1848). His ambition was to transform Munich from a capital with the homely intimacy of a village to a modern Athens, and to a considerable degree he succeeded. He sought to outshine the Enlightenment by making Munich not only a centre of learning, but also of religious vitality; he did achieve a Catholic renaissance in his kingdom, his mentor being the scholarly bishop of Regensburg, Sailer. Braving the disgruntled opposition of the Liberal ministers he inherited from his father, he projected the restoration of the Benedictine abbeys that were once so thick on the ground in Bavaria, beginning with Metten, whose restoration he decreed as early as 1827. The difficulty would be to populate these houses. Only six monks survived of all the Bavarian abbeys that had been suppressed nearly thirty years previously, and of these only two were fit and willing to resume monastic life. There was, however, a superfluity of secular priests in the diocese of Regensburg, and Bishop Sailer encouraged them to join the newborn monasteries, thus launching a recurring feature of the Benedictine revival everywhere, the high proportion of former diocesan clergy among its recruits and leaders. Ludwig I, however, even after his abdication, was a compulsive founder of monasteries—Augsburg in 1834, Scheyern in 1838, Weltenburg in 1842, St Boniface's, Munich (significantly an architectural replica of S. Paolo in Rome) in 1850, Ottobeuren in 1834, Andechs in 1850, while Schaftlarn would follow in 1866. This rapid pace of expansion must have imposed a severe strain on the available manpower, particularly when it became usual for large secondary schools to be annexed to these monasteries—a concession to the Liberal desire to see some social utility resulting from these foundations and a sign of the academic character of this Catholic revival. The dependence of these houses on royal beneficence and their strong attachment to the folk-culture and home-feeling of the Bavarians might well have confined their influence within these local horizons, were it not for the seemingly maverick enterprise of one of their stormy petrels.

Dom Boniface Wimmer, always at odds with his superiors who nicknamed him `the Planmaker' and aggrieved at their rejection of his proposal to reopen the former monastery of Mallersdorf, found new scope for his dreams of organization when he became aware of the spiritual deprivations of German Catholic emigrants to the United
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States. He became convinced that the answer to their needs lay in the foundation of rural Benedictine monasteries which could christianize wide territories and conduct schools for training future priests, just as historically the abbeys had done in Bavaria. In 1846, with the help of the royal Ludwig-Missionsverein and with a German priest called Lemke as his cicerone, he settled in the diocese of Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, whose bishop was anxious to establish a seminary. This was the origin of St Vincent's Archabbey, Latrobe, which soon became the centre of a flourishing agricultural colony and of a constellation of mission stations. Wimmer had to contend for an activist missionary interpretation of Benedictinism against successive eruptions among his subjects and confreres of demands for a more monastic and enclosed practice. He also had to weather criticism from the Irish-born local bishop who could not understand the time-honoured German practice of associating a monastery with a brewery at a time when Father Theobald Mathew was doing his best to spread temperance in Ireland. He did not find Wimmer the tractable cooperator he had hoped for. In 1855 persistent represen​tation by Wimmer and his influential Bavarian supporters procured from Rome in the teeth of opposition from the Bishop of Pittsburg a decree raising St Vincent's to the privileges of an exempt abbey to become the central house of a new Benedictine Congregation which would first be affiliated to the Italian Cassinese, who rendered many useful services to Wimmer in these transactions. This dimension of a Congregation was to accompany the Roman decrees permitting the establishment of Solesmes and Beuron too, and in nineteenth-century monastic politics and constitutional thinking the congrega​tion would often have the upper hand over the notion of individual houses and their rights to determine their destiny.

Wimmer was far-sighted enough to see that it was in the West that America's future lay. Innumerable frontier bishops petitioned him to make foundations in their dioceses. It has been said that his motto was `Always go ahead'. In 1856 at the request of the Bishop of St Paul's, Minnesota, he founded St John's, Collegeville, (then named `St Louis' in honour of the munificent Bavarian king) in an area of German settlement; it needed only ten years to attain abbatial status. St Benedict's, Atchison, Kansas, was also founded in 1856, but had a much harder struggle to make its way. These were the two elder daughters of a great chain of monasteries, each of them fast expanding and evolving, spread over the regions of more recent settlement in America, in the West and even in the conquered South, principally working among the ethnic immigrants, of German or Bohemian origin. Wimmer wrote to King Ludwig: `We must seize the opportunity and spread, even before we have had time to become
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thoroughly rooted in one place'. It is possible that Wimmer had learnt this tempo of expansion from Ludwig himself. When the Patriarch of this new Congregation died in 1887, he had founded four abbeys and two priories, which were in their turn to reproduce fast.

These American monasteries, although not yet the gigantic enterprises they were to become, were on the large scale, with sights set on limitless expansion. They were outward looking and highly diversified in their operations. Their only limit seemed to be in 1874 that both their recruitment and their clientele were over​whelmingly German, and with the mentality of frontiersmen. A foundation in Iowa for discontented Irish monks was short-lived. Even the rudimentary architectural style of their monastic edifices bespoke the land of their origins; their long brick churches with twin towers would have nestled only too well into a Rhineland landscape. Wimmer, great go-getter as he was, always maintained close ties with Europe, and his patrons and friends in Germany and Rome sustained him with solid material backing, a continuous stream of priestly reinforcements and a powerful lobby for his causes at the Roman Congregations.

The development of the parallel congregation in the New World, the Swiss-American (now the Pan-American Congregation) was later, steadier and quieter, but otherwise not so very different in the nature and scale of its operations, except for a stronger emphasis on the autonomy of the houses and on monastic observance. In 1854 a house dedicated to St Meinrad was founded in Indiana by a small colony of monks in order to be a possible place of refuge for the community of Einsiedeln which was then being harassed by the government of the canton and the aftermath of Switzerland's religious war, the Sonderbund, in which the Catholic minority was defeated. In 187o it became an abbey. Two years later, a similar foundation, this time from Engelburg, was made at Conception, Missouri. In 1881 the two houses were recognized by Rome as constituting a congregation in their own right. The observances of this Congregation were more austere than those of the mother-houses in Switzerland, and were greatly influenced by the ideas of Beuron. Other houses emerged—like the American-Cassinese almost exclusively in the West and the South—and by 1904 the Congrega​tion comprised five sizeable abbeys. The great success story of these two transatlantic congregations was a powerful assertion and justifi​cation of the missionary strain within the Benedictine tradition. A sharp contrast, but an equally impressive achievement was the revival of monasticism in France under the clear-sighted and combative leadership of Prosper Gueranger (1805–75)

290
BENEDICT'S DISCIPLES

Gueranger was a native of the very Catholic West of France, deeply attached to the small riverside town of Sable where he grew up, a schoolmaster's son, his imagination haunted by the nearby abandoned priory of Solesmes. His seminary education he enriched by pasturing his mind in libraries and on his contacts with De Maistre, Lammenais, Lacordaire, Chateaubriand and other men of wide horizons. It was the Maurist folios of the Fathers in the library of the Grand Seminaire of Le Mans that awakened his curiosity about things Benedictine, and with a gesture that proves his affinity with the Romantic movement, he paced the ruins of St Martin's abbey of Marmoutier on the night of his ordination. In his short career as a diocesan priest he was the highly valued secretary of an aged bishop who had survived from pre-Revolutionary days and who retained Gueranger's services on his retirement to Paris. Here Gueranger was soon in touch with the foremost spirits of the Catholic Revival, at a time when Liberal Catholicism and Ultra​montanism went hand in hand until Gregory XVI's condemnation of this combination in his Encyclical Mirari Vos, issued at the behest of the Catholic Governments who wished to keep the Church as an instrument of State. Henceforth Ultramontanism and Liberal Catholicism in its different manifestations would be pitted against each other. Lammenais refused to accept the Encyclical and was soon lost to the Church. He had attempted to found a religious community imbued with his ideas: Gueranger's association with him was to give rise to many suspicions that Solesmes was another Lammenaisian covert.

It was the arrival on the property market of Solesmes Priory which forced Gueranger to give practical shape to his Benedictine aspirations. Unable to buy it outright, he raised enough money to lease the building for three years, then collected a small band of aspirants and went to Rome very soon to obtain Papal approval of the constitutions he had drawn up. The way had been smoothed for him by Montalembert, at that time his enthusiastic supporter, though later there was to be an estrangement. It was a great triumph for Gueranger to obtain permission for life abbots since triennial superiors were the norm for Italian Benedictines. He had wished to call his monks `Maurists' since continuity with the congregation of Mabillon and Montfaucon might recommend his project in the eyes of the French Government. But Gregory XVI personally dissuaded him from using this title since the reputation of the learned Maurists had been sullied by Jansenist tendencies in their last years. Gueranger was successful in parrying proposals that he should merge forces with the Italian Cassinese Congregation, and indeed his whole conduct of these initial proceedings with the
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Papal dicasteries, when he had so little to show for his demands, shows him to be a master of diplomatic finesse.

Having obtained approval of everything, including his right to launch a congregation from Solesmes, he made his own monastic profession before a distinguished audience in the sacristy of S. Paolo fuori le Mure, since the church had not yet been rebuilt after its conflagration of the previous year. The scene of this occasion was almost emblematic of Gueranger's role in the equally devastated monastic landscape of France. He served no novitiate, and would very shortly be an abbot, vexing his bishop by the use of pontificalia. In his monastic life as in so much else Gueranger was an autodidact, with no contact with a living tradition, no long stay in another Bene​dictine house to observe the life. The wonder is that notwithstanding he acquired a sureness of touch that he could share with others.

Gueranger returned to France and sought to sustain the preca​rious economy of his foundation by the scanty rewards of literary and historical work. Though personally affable and `douce', he could not resist controversy not just for the sake of his monastery, but also in the wider ecclesiastical arena, though secular politics had no interest for him. . . . He championed the Roman rites of Missal and Breviary against venerable local usage which he denounced as Gallican, and crossed swords with many prelates, often of high eminence; he entered the lists with the Prince de Broglie over the philosophy of naturalism and with the followers of Dupanloup on the Infallibility question. No Benedictine figure of this time made such an impact outside the monastic world. His literary output was prolific and his most widely circulated books were Les Institutions Liturgiques and L'Anne'e Liturgique which, though written in haste and never completed by him, brought home to his contemporaries that worship is the highest expression of the life both of the Church and of the monastery. The principle that monastic life should be animated and articulated by the liturgy, which should therefore take on a high relief in the monastic horarium and not be cramped or crowded out by works was Gueranger's unique and inestimable contribution to the recovery of monastic life in our century. Though his particular application of that principle might be criticised or thought to be now transcended, its assertion would influence the practice of all other Benedictines and would constitute the first move in the modern liturgical movement. Liturgical antiquities engaged the scholarly researchers of the Congregation of France, Pitra, Cabrol, Leclercq and Ferotin, while Mocquereau and Pothier would divine the meaning of the plainchant manuscripts.

In its expansion the French Congregation experienced many setbacks. Gueranger was not gifted either in financial affairs or in
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the choice of men to manage his foundations, several of which came to grief. Liguge, with its ancient associations with St Martin, was restored in 1853 and was situated in the diocese of Poitiers where reigned Monsignor Pie, France's other great Ultramontane gladiator and preacher of the panegyric over the dead Gueranger. Its speciality was to be research into monastic history. The foundation of the city monastery of Marseilles in 1855 seems almost to have been willed on Gueranger by a determined old local priest who wanted to bequeath into safe hands a flourishing catechetical institution he had built up. Its importance is that a number of young women associated with this enterprise joined Cecile Bruyere, who had been under Gueran​ger's spiritual direction since childhood, to begin the Benedictine community for nuns near Solesmes, Ste Cecile. Here again there does not seem to have been any thought of asking any long-established Benedictine convent to send some nuns to help with the work of initiation.

Though a Frenchman of the French, Abbot Gueranger's monastic principles radiated far beyond the confines of his own country. The powerful Beuronese Congregation was to be almost a mirror-image of his own. Its founders, the Wolter brothers, were his impressively docile disciples and would settle many questions raised at Beuron or Maredsous by the pronouncement, `At Solesmes it was always done in this way', and causa finita est. The Beuronese Congregation would in its turn channel Gueranger's views and priorities to its offshoots—the Belgian Congregation, the restored Brazilian Congregation and the St Ottilien Congregation for missionary monks—and indeed to the whole order when the Beuronese had the formative influence over the international Benedictine College of Sant' Anselmo, Rome. His ideas percolated into the English Congregation through another enthusiastic follower, Dom Lawrence Shepherd, Chaplain of Stanbrook, who translated his works into English. The expulsions of the monks of Solesmes, along with other religious orders, from France in 188o, 1882 and 1901, led to the founding of monasteries of refuge in England, Spain, Luxembourg and Holland, which, when the expatriate monks returned to France in a more benign era, survived as native houses in those countries, though still belonging to the French Congregation.

This network of influence entitles Gueranger to the central position in the nineteenth-century monastic revival. His portraits do not indicate him to be a man of striking physical appearance: he was short, chubby and homely; only his burning eyes indicate a man out of the ordinary. A devourer of books, he once risked the whole small capital of his infant monastery to purchase a set of the Bollandists. Very susceptible to the charm of historic eras which


BENEDICTINE REVIVAL IN THE NINETEENTH CENTURY 293

seemed to him privileged moments in the Church's evolution, it was first the middle ages, `notre cher moyen Age' as he once wrote to Montalembert, then the early Christian period which seemed to him the model to be copied. The Church Father who meant most to him was St Ephraim. To us the chief defect in his ecclesiastical learning was his remoteness from the Bible. He was an inspirer rather than an organizer; only the tactful persuasion of Mme Cecile could induce him to put some order into his monastery's financial affairs, all in his bumbling hands, in the years before his death.

After his death the force of his personality continued to make itself felt within his Congregation, under his successors, Dom Couturier and Dom Delatte, who had both been formed by him. The Abbess of Ste Cecile became a powerful influence because she was held to be almost an oracle, transmitting Gueranger's mind on any matter submitted to her. But along with this strenuous effort to maintain fidelity to the charism of the Founder, there developed a more cloistered mentality than was Gueranger's, ever active in the wider affairs of the Church in whose life he felt monasticism was central with an apostolate of its own. This shift of outlook was due partly to the external circumstances of monastic life in exile, partly to the effect of Mme Bruyere's influence which at one time incurred the suspicion of Quietism. Furthermore within the monastic world itself, at the end of the century, the trend which prevailed and which was encouraged by the Papacy was towards a greater centralization, from which Solesmes stood aloof and surrendered the role of monastic pace-maker to Beuron.

The Congregation of Beuron was yet another product of a monas​tic inspiration received by diocesan priests. The two brothers (there would have been a trio if Hildebrand Wolter had not died at Rome in 1859) later to be called Maurus and Placid Wolter, emanated from Bonn where their father was a successful brewer who had married a Protestant and had fourteen children, many of whom became priests or nuns. Rudolf, later to be Dom Maurus, the future founder of Beuron, became Rector of the Gymnasiums run by the diocese, first at Julich, then at Aachen, and showed himself an effective teacher and administrator. Both brothers, however, moved in circles at Bonn which were very much under the spell of Anton Gunther. He was a learned and pious theologian of Austrian origin, determined to fight the Church's Rationalist and Materialist enemies with their own weapons of reason and scientific learning. He carried this so far as to incur Roman condemnation on a charge of `semi-rationalism' because he upheld the possibility of a full and positive understanding by reason of the Christian mysteries. Gunther him-self accepted the Church's decision though many of his followers
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were to become leaders of the German Old Catholic movement. An implacable opponent of all Guntherians was the archbishop of Cologne, and the Wolter brothers were later to be discouraged by his suspicions of them from founding their first monastery in North Germany, as would be their first instinct.

Gunther was a polymath, and had an appreciation of history as well as of science, and in the heyday of his movement, before its condemnation, propounded a practical programme for the spread of his doctrines in which he expressed the hope that the Benedictine order would rise once more to foster the learned investigations he thought would commend Christianity to the nineteenth century. This aspiration was seized upon by the newly elected abbot of S. Paolo, Rome, Simplicio Pappalettere, who had previously taught philosophy to the student monks at Subiaco and had come into contact with some German Guntherians. This was in 1853. Pappa​lettere wished to make his monastery the spearhead of the Guntherian movement, profiting from its location at the centre of Christendom and hoping to revive the College of Sant' Anselmo, an academy of the Cassinese Benedictines attached to S. Paolo in the seventeenth century. He promised a welcome to any Germans who would enter his novitiate and help him raise the monastery's level of observance and scholarship. Over the next few years a trickle of postulants crossed the Alps in answer to his appeal, among them the three brothers Wolter. They were sent for their novitiate to S. Pietro, Perugia, and returned to Rome where Father Maurus was appointed Lecturer in Theology. During this time he became acquainted with G. B. de Rossi, the explorer of the Catacombs who was also a friend of Gueranger and who implanted in Wolter that enthusiasm for the Early Christian world of Rome that was always a component in the Beuronese ethos. Another Roman contact of great consequence for the future was with another German resident of the city, the widowed Princess Catherine Hohenzollern who was recovering from her unsuccessful attempt to find her vocation with the enclosed Franciscan nuns of Sant' Ambrogio, Rome, but never abandoned her ambition to use her fortune to found a religious house in which she would find a place.

After a few years the high hopes of the Wolters to be the pioneers of a spiritual and intellectual renaissance radiating from S. Paolo were shipwrecked when Abbot Pappalettere was transferred from S. Paolo to Monte Cassino. His successor, Abbot Pescatelli, the great friend and Roman agent of Abbot Boniface Wimmer, was a resolute and agile ecclesiastical politician who led the resistance to Abbot Casaretto's reform of the Cassinese and had no sympathy for Pappalettere's visions. The German monks at S. Paolo now found
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themselves isolated and unwanted. Their abbot did not try to hold them back when they asked if they could prospect in Germany to make a foundation of their own. Princess Catherine became an indefatigable agent in their schemes just as Madame Swetchwine, a convert from Russian Orthodoxy, was in Gueranger's, except that the Princess had ready access to the pope and could obtain all the necessary decrees and permissions. After a few short-lived experi​ments the Wolters alighted on Beuron in 1862. It was an abandoned Augustinian house, high up in the Danube valley on territory belonging to the Catholic branch of the Hohenzollerns. The bishop of Freiburg im Breisgau was sympathetic, and the Princess Catherine obtained a papal brief in 1863 recognizing the community as a self-governing priory, free of all connection with S. Paolo. In 1868, with the profession of the twelfth member of the community, it was raised to be an abbey with Maurus Wolter as its first abbot and with the right to form a congregation.

Monastic life at Beuron in its infancy bore very much the imprint of Solesmes, or rather of Gueranger personally, and that at a time when he had reached his full monastic maturity. He sent many wise and affectionate letters to Abbot Wolter, giving him sound and humane advice on the manner of abbatial government. The Beuronese Constitutions were drawn up after a model he proposed, as footnotes to the Rule of St Benedict. Several of the earliest aspi​rants to Beuron made their novitiate at Solesmes, and Placid Wolter, who in 1890 would succeed his brother as archabbot, spent several years there. The Beuronese nuns were initiated into monasticism at Ste Cecile, and Princess Catherine at one time sought entrance into the novitiate there. But in spite of this warm interchange and faithful imitation there were several significant differences between Solesmes and Beuron. First, as has already been pointed out, while Gueranger with his monastic schemes had broken in on history with all the abruptness of a prophet, the founders of Beuron were spared many of the pains and mistakes which are the price of pioneerdom, and sought to nestle in to a living monastic tradition.

Secondly, Beuron explicitly renounced any ordinary pastoral commitments, like the parishes and schools which occupied the other German-speaking Benedictines. The Beuronese deliberately set out to differentiate themselves from the Austrian, Bavarian and Swiss Congregations in whose territory they were, by striving after a more absolute form of monasticism. Nevertheless, unlike Solesmes, the Beuronese were ready for extraordinary pastoral work, preaching retreats, giving parish missions, especially of a liturgical nature, editing the Schott missals which would attain a mass circulation. At Beuron itself they inherited a centuries-old Marian pilgrimage,
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which gave the monks much work as confessors and a firm place in the hearts of the devout peasantry of that region. Beuron was thus more integrated into the general life of the Church in Germany, less a pole of contradiction than Solesmes never ceased to be in France. There was a steady flow of recruits who would populate the numer​ous foundations, and especially of recruits into the ranks of the lay-brothers, whose bearded sanctity would be as conspicuous a feature of the Beuronese scene as it had been in the days of the early Cistercians. It would also be a legacy from Beuron to the monks of the missionary congregation of St Ottilien.

Thirdly, Beuron, to a far greater degree than Solesmes, showed a capacity for expanding outside its native ambient. Very early in its history it was forced to send out swarms to new houses outside Germany because of Bismarck's Kulturkampf. In 1872 Placid Wolter was entrusted with the formation of a new abbey at Maredsous in Belgium, whose property and buildings were delivered ready-made to the Beuronese by the family of Desclee, the well-known ecclesias​tical publishers. In 1899 Maredsous founded a house of studies in the university town of Louvain which would develop into the abbey of Mont Cesar. The Benedictines discovered almost instant success in Belgium, had no difficulty in attracting vocations from the noble families or in setting up a tradition of industrious and recondite scholar-ship. After the first World War the Belgian monasteries formed an inde​pendent congregation of their own, which would reveal an astonishing creativity both in pioneering many of the movements—biblical, liturgical, ecumenical—that would bear fruit in the Second Vatican Council and in missionary endeavours in Africa, India and China.

In the Habsburg Empire the royal monastery of Emaus in Prague was opened in 188o, and the Augustinian house at Seckau in Styria taken over to become an abbey in 1887. Maria Laach, the Beuronese monastery that was to have most eclat in the twentieth century, was founded as late as 1892, when the ancient monastery buildings formerly belonging to the Bursfeld Congregation were acquired from the Jesuits who had been occupying them. This Rhineland abbey was to enjoy considerable support from the Kaiser who would also in Igo6 present the Beuronese with the buildings of the abbey of the Dormition on Mount Zion in Jerusalem, where he intended them to act as a German presence. In 1894 the Beuronese undertook the re-form and reinvigoration of the Brazilian Benedictine Congregation, which, suffering from the displeasure of the anticlerical governments ever since Brazil had seceded from the Portuguese Empire, had dwindled to only ten monks. Very shortly after, the Beuronese undertook the same role with regard to the sole surviving Portuguese abbey of Singeverga.
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These instances show that in the latter part of the nineteenth century the Beuronese were a ginger group within the Benedictine order, setting out to raise the general standard of monastic obser​vance. They were sometimes feared because they were credited with believing that the way to reform lay through increased centralization. They assented more eagerly than did most Benedic​tines to Leo XIII's plans for closer coordination of the different Congregations within the framework of the Benedictine Confedera​tion which he instituted in 1893, having already united the different branches of the Franciscans and the Cistercians. The first two heads of this Pan-Benedictine body were former Beuronese abbots, the old Papal Zouave and amateur architect, Hildebrand de Hemptinne of Maredsous, and Fidelis von Stotzingen of Maria Laach. Both these formidable men had long incumbencies and under their guidance the international college of Sant'Anselmo, Rome, which they made their headquarters, was subjected to Beuronese customs and cere​monial, while of all Congregations the Beuronese were probably the most generous in providing that college with professors and lay-brothers. Thus the vision of monasticism which had been disclosed to Beuron by Solesmes soon pervaded all Benedictine houses through the channels of this international network.

The third column of the nineteenth century monastic reform movement, alongside the contingents of Solesmes and Beuron, was the body later to be known as the Primitive Observance or the Subiaco Congregation. Once more the leadership of a single personality rather than the discovery by a group of a common consciousness was the fountainhead of the movement. The character of Pietro Casaretto (1810–78) has more than once been described by biographers of his own congregation as `complex'. He was the sickly son of a Genoese commercial family, settled in Ancona, who entered the Cassinese monastery of Cesena at the age of seventeen, was solemnly professed the following year, and almost immediately began a series of locomotions from monastery to monastery in a vain attempt to find a climate that suited his health. These frequent dislocations not only left him with a lifelong urge for travel but must have damaged what would have been in any case a rather straitened education. Although Casaretto pined after a higher level of observance than he found in the Cassinese houses, the vistas that drew him on were not opened out for him, as they had been for Gueranger and the Wolters, by the study of theology and history, but by the narrow conviction that a stricter asceticism necessarily meant a better monasticism. At one time he tried to become a Camaldolese, but in 1842 was ordered to care for a parish at Pegli near Genoa, which belonged to the Benedictines but was threatened
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by being taken over by the diocesan chapter. It was hardly a flattering appointment, but it was to be the doorway to future developments. Casaretto loudly lamented his exclusion from monastic community life, but soon along with this querimoniousness displayed that unsuspected resolution and resourcefulness that underlay his physical fragility. He set about transforming the parish house into a monastery, enlisted the novice-master of Subiaco as a companion, obtained the support of King Charles Albert of Piedmont, normally opposed to Benedictine foundations which had not done much to recommend themselves previously in his model nineteenth-century state, and soon recruited a little band of aspirants. Very shortly he was able to move to more commodious quarters at S. Giuliano d'Albaro near Genoa, where in 1844 Casaretto became Abbot, nominated by the Cassinese Congregation which was impressed by the ability he had unexpectedly shown. S. Giuliano had been a monastery abandoned by the Carthusians; another house on the Italian Riviera, Finalpia, which the Olivetans found themselves unable to staff any more, Casaretto took over to be a missionary college, especially for territories where the English language was spoken. In this project, as original in the Cassinese ambient as the seventeenth-century English Benedictine missionaries had been in the Congregation of Valladolid with its strong emphasis on enclosure, Casaretto betrays the influence of his spiritual director, S. Vincenzo Pallotti. So what had at first seemed to Casaretto to be an exile from monastic community in the event enabled him to construct a monastery after his own ideal, which would never have been possible for him in any of the other Cassinese houses.

The rather pedestrian way of life in these venerable abbeys was due above all to the prolonged interruption of their life during the French occupation of Italy, which had closed most of the monasteries for nearly a quarter of a century. Even when restored after the war, the monasteries were in suspense as to their continuance because of the apparently inevitable progress of the Risorgimento with its anti-clerical accompaniments. During the suppression the monks had had to become diocesan clergy or live with their families. In the struggle to fend for themselves during this long interval, they had acquired habits which were hard to shed on their return to the monasteries and which they knew they might have to resume. Instead of living entirely from the community's resources, individual monks retained small reserves of private property, the peculium. Family ties counted for a great deal, even within the monastery. Greater store was set by the kind of devotional exercises and pious practices suitable for a parish priest than by the liturgy performed in common. The political divide in Italy between those who wel‑
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corned the movement for Unification and those who defended the status quo gave rise to factions within monastic communities.

Vociferous supporters of the Risorgimento like Abbot Pappalettere of Monte Cassino and the historian, Don Luigi Tosti, had brought the Cassinese Congregation into disfavour with the Holy See. The future Cardinal Dusmet had been forced out of his own monastery, S. Martino della Scala, by the high feelings aroused there by political developments. Yet in spite of all its weaknesses the ancient stock of this congregation could still give proofs of its vitality; the motto of Monte Cassino was succisa recrescit, and not in vain. Each one of the mighty Benedictine enterprises we have so far investigated, even though its impact was outside Italy, had in its faltering beginnings owed a great deal to its contact with the Cassinese. And though small in numbers the Cassinese at this time produced a great array of cardinals and archbishops who were entrusted with some of the principal Italian dioceses, particularly in the South. At S. Paolo it maintained an influential Benedictine presence in Rome, while at the same time out of gratitude for its support during the United Italy campaign, particularly the kindness of the monks at Perugia to the wounded in battle, the Liberal governments which supplanted the Popes tolerated an attenuated survival of the monks at a time when all the other religious orders were being suppressed. A last sign of the undiminished power of the Cassinese to make a contribution to the general life of the Church and the Order in this century is that their noblest son, Cardinal Dusmet, was to be the chief instrument of Leo XIII's plans, first for founding Sant'Anselmo, the international college at Rome for Benedictine students, in 1888, and secondly for organizing in 1893 the Congress of Abbots which, after allaying all fears of centralization and loss of autonomy, agreed upon the Lex Propria, the constitution of the new Benedictine Confederation.
In 1850 the Holy See, impressed by Casaretto's success in Liguria, decided to use him for reforming the Cassinese generally. This new mission would be more complex than his previous achievement, which had been to take over and restart empty monasteries according to his own ideas, without any need to placate or win round monks who were already there living the monastic life after their own fashion. In less than twenty years he was to find this task of raising the level of observance in all the Cassinese houses too much for his powers, and would hive off a few of these monasteries to be totally given to the Reform, with a growing independence of the rest of the Cassinese Congregation, an evolution similar to that of the Discalced from the Carmelites of the mitigated observance. But for the moment he envisaged his task differently. In 185o Pius IX used his Commen​datory powers over Subiaco to appoint Casaretto Abbot there. The

300
BENEDICT'S DISCIPLES

former inhabitants were summarily ejected to make room for Casaretto's little band of reformers from Liguria. From the start co-existence in the same house seemed unthinkable. The principal elements of the reform were common property, total abstinence from meat and the recitation of Matins in the middle of the night. In 1851 the little cluster of reformed houses was formed into the Subiaco Province of the Cassinese Congregation, a grouping based not on regional location of the constituent houses, as was the case with all the other provinces of the Cassinese, but according to the level of the observance. With rapid momentum other houses were aggregated to this province—the Sacro Speco at Subiaco in 1853, S. Giovanni in Parma in 1854, Praglia in 1857. This rapid advance must have seemed rather threatening to the Cassinese of the older variety, especially since Casaretto had been elected—after the Papacy had gone to lengths to make its wishes clear—President of the Cassinese Congregation in 1851.

A new dimension was added to his Reform when isolated monas​teries outside Italy began to be attached to it, chiefly at the promp​ting of the Holy See. In 1856 he was asked to take under his guidance the Flemish monastery of Dendermonde. In 1859 there was annexed to his organization Pierre-qui-Vire, a community which its saintly and apostolic founder, a secular priest Jean-Baptiste Muard, intended to combine penitential practices with missionary initiatives. In 1862 the great Catalonian monastery of Montserrat was affiliated, after Subiaco had opened up many Spanish contacts through its support of the missionary work of Monsignor Serro and Abbot Salvado among the Australian aborigines. The English abbey of Ramsgate, founded as early as 1856, differed from all these other non-Italian houses in that it was a direct overseas foundation by Subiaco, the first-fruit of its missionary college. The leader of its founding fathers was Wilfrid Alcock.

The French anti-monastic legislation of 188o expelled the community of Pierre-qui-Vire. One group of these monks, after a short sojourn at Leopardstown, a vast property near Dublin owned by Ramsgate, who had hoped to found there an agricultural college in connexion with Newman's Catholic University but in the event found it a source of much financial embarrassment, moved to England to take over Buckfast. This pre-Reformation monastery had been adapted to be a gentleman's country house. In time these French monks opened at Buckfast a school for boys who aspired to the monastic life; this was soon filled with young men from the devout Catholic regions of Wurttemburg. This explains the change in one generation from a French to a German complexion in that community, which impressed legions of visitors by the different
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products of the skilled work of its monks. This ranged from building the abbey to producing honey and tonic wine. Buckfast was also to give the Church one of its deepest theologians on Eucharistic doctrine in Abbot Anscar Vonier.

This extension of his organization beyond the Alps to include monasteries which were in their turn to be prolific in foundations, just preceding a time when the new Italian state would suppress Casaretto's Italian monasteries (he wasn't so much persona grata with the Government as were the Cassinese, possibly because in all his works he was so much an agent of the Holy See) and force them to seek refuge in adjoining countries, led Casaretto to think afresh on the constitution of his Reform. He no longer saw it as his mission to change the Cassinese by degrees as one house after another submitted to the new observances. Instead he set about creating a separate international congregation of the Primitive Observance, which would be subdivided into national provinces; the Italian houses of his allegiance would separate from the Cassinese to form the Italian province. After an experimental stage this new Congre​gation was finally approved in 1872. The legendary prudence of the Holy See can be seen in its rejection of a set of Constitutions which Casaretto himself had drawn up and which combined the system of temporary local superiors he had known in his Cassinese tradition with strong centralized rule by the Abbot General. The contours of the scheme he proposed reveal the cast of Casaretto's mind—auto​cratic, not very original and obsessed with observances. He ended his life rather sadly—sick, dying outside a monastic community, under examination on charges of misusing his Congregation's finances. Yet he had built up a work that would have a wider radiation than he could ever have conceived. The poor and severe life he imposed upon his monks would fit them admirably for the implantation of monasteries in the mission field. Many features of his international congregation anticipated the organization of the Benedictine Confederation.

The reason for assigning to the English Benedictines the postscript in this survey of the history of Benedictinism in the nineteenth century is that in some of its major aspects their evolution followed a course quite the opposite to the one which prevailed on the Conti​nent. The tendency elsewhere to greater centralization, to put the accent on the Congregation rather than on its constituent houses, to throw up some great father-figure whose mind would be mirrored in the development of his Congregation synchronized in England with a hard-fought campaign to dismantle the old structure of the Congregation, derived from Valladolid and Santa Giustina, which invested all power centrally in the General Chapter, to elevate the
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component houses to the status of abbeys whose autonomy would be respected. And this movement in England did not proceed so much from a single great man's vision as from the spontaneous generation of the same aims in many quarters simultaneously. On the other hand, this same English movement did have in common with its continental contemporaries a quest for a more distinctive monasti​city of behaviour, less alloyed by the works a monastery might happen to be engaged in, a more pronounced stress on the liturgy and on scholarly services to the Church and a rapturous response to inspirations found in the Middle Ages. As also on the Continent, so in England too, the Holy See played a decisive part at all the turning-points of Benedictine development, and rarely was its judgement at fault.

For the greater part of this century the three small priories of Ampleforth, Downside and Douai went on conducting homely, unpretentious boarding schools where the teaching was generally by very young monks, who had probably only just left the schools they were running and who had seldom received any education outside the system they were returning to. These young monks were preparing either for ordination or for the call by the Congregation's President to leave their priory and serve on one of the Congregation's `missions', as the future parishes were still called. There, although radically still attached to the community of the priory where they had taken their vows, they were withdrawn from the jurisdiction of their Prior, and subjected to the authority of one of the President's two lieutenants for administering the missions, the Provincial of York for those in the North and the Provincial of Canterbury for those in the South.

This system, whereby the monasteries were subordinated to the missionary organization of the Congregation, was accepted without serious questioning for many years. It can be argued that during the Napoleonic Wars it was responsible for the survival of English Benedictines at a time when its most autonomous house, Lamspringe near Hanover, died never to revive. There was a period of greatness when the Congregation became a nursery of bishops, giving to England Ullathorne (1806–89) of Birmingham, Joseph Brown (1796–1880) and Cuthbert Hedley (1837–1915) both of Newport and Menevia; to Australia Bede Polding (1794–1877), Bede Vaughan (1834–83) and Charles Davis (1815–1848) ; to Mauritius and South Africa Bede Slater and six successors.

The casual but sturdy training given within the Congregational system fostered that combination of practicability, broad-mindedness and independence of judgement with a deep unobtrusive piety and a Catholic spirit of obedience which fitted these men to be pioneers
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and apostles in virgin territory. A Benedictine name regularly featured in the terna of those submitted to Rome for the archbishopric of Westminster. And on a smaller scale these same characteristics could be found, multiplied in the numerous Benedictine priests who were pastors of large missions to the Irish immigrants in the raw new towns of Lancashire, Cumberland, Durham and South Wales, the regions where there was the heaviest concentration of Benedictine missions. The heroism of this tradition discloses itself with great poignancy in the memorial in St Peter's church, Seel Street, Liverpool, to the numerous Benedictine clergy who died while ministering during the great cholera epidemic. In the watering-places of Bath, Malvern and Cheltenham fashionable congregations had their own way of making heavy demands on the Benedictine clergy there. Everywhere new schools and churches had to be fought for and paid for, the Catholic poor championed, prejudices refuted and disarmed. A noble record of solid achievement was built up, which would be hard to abandon later on.

But in the later decades of the century many influences combined to give the Congregation a more monastic conscience. The Continen​tal reforming movement was brought uncomfortably into the theatre of the English missionary monks with the arrival of the Primitive Observance at Ramsgate in 1856 and the Beuronese at Erdington, a working-class suburb of Birmingham, where a wealthy parish priest presented them with a fine church and house in 1876. Apart from the important difference of their life together, the monks of both these houses were engaged in parish activities not very differently from their English Benedictine counterparts. But they were a presence, for some an encouragement, for others a cause of fear. Abbot Linse of Erdington gave a retreat at Fort Augustus, a monastery founded in 1876 by the volatile romantic, Dom Jerome Vaughan, with the support of some wealthy highland lairds, and the community was so affected that it applied to join the Beuronese Congregation and maintained its Beuronese affiliation from 1883 to 1810. This move was supported by the Scottish Catholic nobility and bishops, possibly because it seemed to register Scottish distinc​tiveness, but it was deeply resented by the English Benedictine authorities. Stanbrook, the only convent of nuns in the English Congregation at that time, had Gueranger's fervent disciple, Dom Laurence Shepherd, as its chaplain for twenty-two years, and his spirit ruled there even from the grave. There he translated L'Annee Liturgique. Some time after his death but still very much under his influence the nuns, led by their French Abbess Dubois, took on constitutions framed on those of Solesmes, notably in that they envisaged superiors elected for life, and profited from the sympathy

304
BENEDICT'S DISCIPLES

of Cardinal Pitra to thwart the opposition of the English Benedictine authorities. Dom Laurence Shepherd had also preached Gueranger's ideals at a retreat he gave to the Downside community, which became the bastion of the monastic party in the English Benedictine Congregation. Furthermore the minds of many young monks had been affected by their experience of monastic and liturgical life in the common novitiate of the Congregation which was based at St Michael's Cathedral Priory, Belmont near Hereford (the church doubled up as the cathedral for the Benedictine bishops of Newport) from 1859 to 1917. Although constitutionally the idea of such a congregational novitiate was to be eschewed by the `monastic party' as an offence against the autonomy of the abbeys, in fact the way of life at Belmont, its liturgical performance and the rediscovery there of Father Augustine Baker and his contemplative emphasis, would make its observance bear comparison with most houses of the reformed variety.

A doughty and often bitter rearguard action was fought by the supporters of the status quo against the growing demands of the `monastic party', which was soon to include men like Cardinal Gasquet and Abbot Cuthbert Butler, for changing the Constitutions so that the old centralized structures give way to more self-determi​nation by the communities and that the parishes be subordinated to the monasteries. Although the so-called `missionary party' had the upper hand in numbers and senority, in fact the tide of events was flowing against it, and powerful influences outside the Congregation, at Rome and among the English bishops, saw the desirability of the changes demanded.

In the first place, the word `mission' began to lose a lot of its meaning and motive-power when in 1851 the English hierarchy was restored and the missions became settled parishes. It was not long before the new English bishops, particularly Manning and Vaughan, resented the traditional immunities and privileges of religious clergy in their dioceses. Among the religious Manning singled out as particularly obnoxious the Jesuits and the Benedic​tines. He wrote to Ullathorne (2 May 1880) : `The Regulars in England may be divided into those who more or less observe their rule, e.g. Franciscans, Capucini, Passionists and Redemptorists... . And secondly those who do not observe their Rule, e.g. S.J. and the Benedictines; and these league and are maintaining the contest.' The controversy between the Bishops and the Regulars was decided by Rome in the Bishops' favour in the Bull Romanos Pontfces of 1881 which gave the Bishops far more authority over Benedictine parishes. This prolonged contest discredited the `missionary party' both at Rome and with the English Bishops so that when they came


BENEDICTINE REVIVAL IN THE NINETEENTH CENTURY 305

to fight on another front, with the `monastic party' of their own Congregation, their cause was already well-known and weakened when it came to Rome for settlement.

The poor impression the English Benedictines then made upon outsiders can be seen in a letter from Newman advising Gerard Manley Hopkins not to become a Benedictine, because a recent visit to Downside had brought home to the future Cardinal how much the missions dominated the scene and stunted the growth of that Benedictine life which he had extolled in his famous essay. Earlier, the great Rosminian missionary, Gentili, writing to Rome from Prior Park, had lamented the secular style of life he had witnessed at Downside. Perhaps the most accusing sign of the inadequacy of the English Benedictines to rise to the needs of the age is that virtually none of the flow of converts that issued from the Oxford Movement and its aftermath knocked at the monasteries for ad-mission. The tragedy was all the greater because the last years of the century was a time when monastic life might have reaped an abundant harvest of vocations. A hint of this can be seen in the spontaneous development of religious orders in the Anglican Church. In instance after instance a sisterhood founded in some East London High Church parish on the model of a Roman Catholic active order evolved into a contemplative community, some of them adopting the Rule of St Benedict.

But so far as the English Benedictines were concerned, the last decades of the nineteenth century were a time of missed opportuni​ties, of fierce infighting, but at least the object of the battle was a constructive one. Distinguished outsiders, ecclesiastical and lay, gave influential support to the reforming monastic party. Rome too was discreetly favourable, though preferring that the right solution should emerge from within the Congregation rather than be imposed from outside. And therefore in the Rescript Cliftoniensis of 1883 and the Bull Diu Quidem of 1890 the English monks were requested to revise their constitutions along more monastic lines. An indication of the direction this would take was given in the Apostolic Letter Religiosus Ordo of 1890 whereby the provincial organization for governing the parishes in a centralized manner was abolished, and the parishes were shared out between the priories. In 1900 the struggle was concluded when the final revision of the Constitutions was approved by Rome: the priories were raised to be abbeys, deciding their own destinies, loosely federated in a Congregation, with abbots elected for terms of office of eight years.

The restructured English Congregation now faced the onset of the twentieth century with its constituent monasteries as the engines of
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power and the sources of initiative. Each of the abbeys had respon​sibility for a small empire of parishes which in some cases might be felt to narrow the choices available for future development. The Benedictines still took second place to the Jesuits in respect of the size and social standing of their schools; the great days of the Benedictine public schools would be after the First World War. For a brief period before the onset of this development, Downside had a halcyon era as a community of scholars, formed and inspired by the shy civil servant and liturgical autodidact, Edmund Bishop, whose hope was that its monks would be Edwardian Maurists.

Rome began to think of the Benedictines as an `Order' which could serve the Church better if they were as much like the other centrally organized Orders as possible. This would be all the more apparent in the early years of the next century when the Holy See would ask the Benedictines as an Order to undertake such works as the revision of the Vulgate, the administration and teaching of the Pontifical Biblical Institute and the Pontifical Oriental Institute as well as of their own central College of Sant' Anselmo in Rome.

Nor was it yet the time to chronicle the history of Anglican Benedictines. 1893 saw the foundation by Aelred Carlyle, a young medical student of ritualist inclinations, of the Anglican Benedic​tines who were subsequently to migrate to Caldey and to count both Nashdom and Prinknash as their descendants. At this time they were taking their first steps in monasticism in the unlikely sur​roundings of the Isle of Dogs in London's dockland. It would have been difficult then to foresee the long and fruitful history that lay ahead. At first it must have seemed as quixotic a venture as that of Father Ignatius of Llanthony thirty years earlier, who tried to bring back monks into the Church of England by a combination of ascetical extremism in the Black Mountains and revivalist mass meetings in London. He was a lovable enthusiast who might have found final acceptance in the Church of England if he had not put himself beyond the pale when he requested priestly ordination from Vilatte, an episcopus vagans.

As we conclude our review of the different strands in the Benedic​tine fabric of the nineteenth century, we can marvel at the sponta​neous generation of so many monastic organisms in an unfavourable ambient, at the strong-minded men who, though the future was so blank and even perilous, did not hesitate to commit the lives of themselves and others to an ideal their era had little room for. There were heavy limitations we can see to their achievement. Nearly everywhere they seemed more anxious to tap the riches of privileged moments in the past than to trust to the resources God had given to their own age and to the guidance of the Spirit. Those solitary
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eminences who were the fountainheads of the different streams of monastic revival seem to have acted as monarchs, with anonymous communities ranged behind them. The monasteries sought to develop into establishments that would impress by their size. Strictness of discipline and a literal interpretation of the Rule were thought to be the necessary ingredients of a self-evidently better form of Benedictinism. Nevertheless, in spite of all its woodenness, the Benedictinism of the last century became a living stock with its own power of self-transcendence, which would make a rich contri​bution to the life of the Church in the following era.
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